IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF CALIFORNIA

MAY 1 9 2014

Frank A. McGelle Clot

| |) CASE NO. S215990 |
|-------------------------------------|--|
| FANNIE MARIE GAINES, |) |
| |) 2 ND District Court of Appeal |
| |) Case No. B244961 |
| Plaintiff/Appellant and Petitioner, |) |
| v. |) |
| |) Los Angeles County Superior |
| |) Court |
| JOSHUA TORNBERG, et. al., |) Case No. BC361768 |
| Defendants/Respondents. |)) |
| |) |

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District Case No. B244961

Superior Court, Los Angeles County Case No. BC361768 Honorable Rolf M. Treu, Judge Presiding

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

W. Keith Wyatt, Esq. *(Bar No. 188876)
wkwyatt@imwlaw.com
Antonio K. Kizzie, Esq. (Bar No. 279719)
akizzie@imwlaw.com
IVIE, McNEILL & WYATT
A Professional Law Corporation
444 South Flower Street, Suite 1800
Los Angeles, California 90071
Telephone: (213) 489-0028
Fax: (213) 489-0552
Attorney for Plaintiff/Appellant and Petitioner
FANNIE MARIE GAINES

IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF CALIFORNIA

| |) CASE NO. S215990 |
|-------------------------------------|--|
| FANNIE MARIE GAINES, |) |
| | 2 ND District Court of Appeal |
| |) Case No. B244961 |
| Plaintiff/Appellant and Petitioner, |) |
| v. |) |
| |) Los Angeles County Superior |
| |) Court |
| JOSHUA TORNBERG, et. al., |) Case No. BC361768 |
| |) |
| Defendants/Respondents. |) |
| |) |

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District Case No. B244961

Superior Court, Los Angeles County Case No. BC361768 Honorable Rolf M. Treu, Judge Presiding

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

W. Keith Wyatt, Esq. *(Bar No. 188876)

wkwyatt@imwlaw.com

Antonio K. Kizzie, Esq. (Bar No. 279719)

akizzie@imwlaw.com

IVIE, McNEILL & WYATT

A Professional Law Corporation

444 South Flower Street, Suite 1800

Los Angeles, California 90071

Telephone: (213) 489-0028

Fax: (213) 489-0552

Attorney for Plaintiff/Appellant and Petitioner

FANNIE MARIE GAINES

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- I. ISSUES PRESENTED
- II. INTRODUCTION
- III. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS
 - A. Gaineses' Financial Problems, Foreclosure, and the Tornberg Defendants
 - B. The Tornberg Defendants Obtain The Assistance of Fidelity/Rybicki to Alter Deeds and Obtain \$90,000 From Escrow Without Authorization
 - C. The Tornberg Defendants Change the Deal and Milton Gaines Dies Shortly Thereafter
 - D. The Financial Institutions' Involvement in Transactions Regarding the Subject Property
- IV. PROCEDURAL FACTS AND HISTORY
 - A. Plaintiff Fannie Gaines Retains Counsel and Files the Subject Action
 - B. Plaintiff Pays over \$30,000 to Stop the Foreclosure Sale of the Subject Property
 - C. Aurora Added as a Defendant in the Action
 - D. All Parties Agree to Obtain a Court Order Staying the Action for 120 Days
 - E. Mediation is Conducted, and the Stay Extends to November 6, 2008
 - F. Plaintiff Successfully Opposes Countrywide's Summary Judgment Motion, The Parties Announce Ready For Trial, And Plaintiff Settles With Countrywide
 - G. Aurora And Lehman Claim Mistakes Re True Ownership

- H. Plaintiff Requests Actual Proof Of Ownership
- I. Plaintiff Dies And A Successor In Interest Is Approved To Continue The Action
- J. Fifth Amended Complaint Is Filed On February 2, 2010
- K. Aurora And Lehman Establish Proof of Title In December 2010
- L. Lehman's Bankruptcy And Plaintiff's Efforts To Obtain Relief From Automatic Stay
- M. Relief From Bankruptcy Stay And Scheduling Of August 6, 2012 Trial Date

V. ARGUMENT

- A. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DISMISSING THE ACTION FOR FAILURE TO BRING THE CASE TO TRIAL WITHIN FIVE YEARS, BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD HAVE EXCLUDED THE TIME THAT THE ACTION WAS STAYED FOR PURPOSES OF MEDIATION FROM THE CALCULATION OF THE FIVE YEAR LIMITATIONS PERIOD PURSUANT TO CCP §583.340, SUBSECTIONS (b) OR (c).
 - 1. It Was Impracticable, if not Impossible, to Bring This Matter To Trial During the Stay
 - 2. Plaintiff Was Reasonably Diligent In Prosecuting This Action
 - 3. The Trial Court Unreasonably Ignored Evidence Which Established Plaintiff's Diligence in Prosecuting the Action During the Stay
 - 4. The Court Unreasonably Refused To Accept Uncontradicted Evidence That The Stay Was Requested By Defendant Aurora And Agreed Upon By All Parties
 - 5. The Trial Court Unreasonably Failed To Consider Evidence That The Stay Made It Impossible, Impractical, Or Futile For Plaintiff To Bring The Action To Trial

- 6. The Trial Court Unreasonably Failed To Consider Exercising
 Its Discretion Under The Doctrine Of Equitable Estoppel In Light
 Of Evidence That The Defendants Clearly Used Plaintiffs'
 Reasonable Reliance On The Language And Spirit Of Their
 Universal Agreement And Court Order To Stay The Action To
 Plaintiffs' Detriment In Favor Of Dismissal
- 7. The Trial Court Further Compounded Its Abuse Of Discretion By Dismissing Parties Who Did Not Join The Motion To Dismiss, Had Not Appear Long Enough To Be Dismissed Under CCP 583.310/583.360And/Or Who Waived A Right To Dismissal
- 8. The Five Year Time Period to Bring the Action to Trial under CCP §583.310 Had Not Expired as Applied to Defendant Lehman Brothers
- B. APPLICATION OF THE "ABUSE OF DISCRETION" STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW DOES NOT REQUIRE THE APPELLATE COURTS TO ACCEPT THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION WHICH, PURSUANT TO CCP §583.130, FAILED TO CONFORM WITH THE SPIRIT OF THE LAW AND WHICH DEFEATED THE ENDS OF SUBSTANTIAL JUSTICE
 - 1. The Trial Court's Decision To Dismiss Was An Abuse Of Discretion As It Was Contrary To The Policy Favoring Trial On The Merits
 - 2. The Court Of Appeals Decisions (<u>Gaines v. Fidelity National Title Insurance Company</u> (2013) 222 Cal. App. 4th 25.
 - 3.It Was An Abuse Of Discretion For The Trial Court To Ignore Important State Policies And Dismiss This Action
 - 4. The Sales Contract The Tornberg Defendants Used To Purchase The Gaineses Home While It Was In Foreclosures Failed To Comply With HESCA Requirements On Its Face And Should Amount To Financial Abuse of An Elder
 - 5. The "Abuse Of Discretion" Standard Does Not Require A Reviewing Court To Uphold Trial Court Decisions Which Do Not Comply With Important Policies Intended To Promote The Substantial Ends Of Justice

VI. CONCLUSION