#### S215990

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

MILTON HOWARD GAINES,

CASE NO. S215990

Plaintiff and Appellant,

2<sup>nd</sup> District Court of Appeal Case No. B244961

v.

Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. BC361768

FIDELITY NATIONAL TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY, et al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

FILED WITH FERMISSION

On Appeal from the Judgment of the Court of Appeal, Second District, Division 8 Case No. B244961

Superior Court, Los Angeles County Case No. BC361768 The Honorable Rolf M. Treu, Judge SUPREME COURT FILED

JUL 15 2014

Frank A. WcGuire Clerk
Deputy

## ANSWERING BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS LEHMAN BROTHERS HOLDINGS INC. AND AURORA LOAN SERVICES LLC ON THE MERITS

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

Was this action properly dismissed for the failure to bring it to trial within five years or should the period during which the action was stayed for purposes of mediation have been excluded under Code of Civil Procedure section 583.340, subdivision (b) or (c)?

Since mediation is merely a communication process aimed at assisting the disputants in reaching a mutually acceptable agreement with the help of a neutral third party (Evid. Code, § 1115(a); Code Civ. Proc., § 1775.1(a); Cal. Rules of Court, rule

<sup>&</sup>quot;An action shall be brought to trial within five years after the action is commenced against the defendant."

<sup>&</sup>quot;In computing the time within which an action must be brought to trial pursuant to this article, there shall be excluded the time during which any of the following conditions existed:

**<sup>&#</sup>x27;'\* \* \*** 

<sup>&</sup>quot;(b) Prosecution or trial of the action was stayed or enjoined."

<sup>&</sup>quot;In computing the time within which an action must be brought to trial pursuant to this article, there shall be excluded the time during which any of the following conditions existed:

<sup>&</sup>quot;\* \* \*

<sup>&</sup>quot;(c) Bringing the action to trial, for any other reason, was impossible, impracticable, or futile."

3.852(1).), it is very much a part of the prosecution of an action<sup>4</sup>—a part that the Legislature has endorsed as aimed at getting to what the plaintiff brought the action for in a way agreeable to the defendants—so that partially staying the proceedings while the parties are ordered to participate in the mediation process not only does not toll the five-year period to bring the case to trial but is consistent with the prosecution of the action. As such, absent a stipulation between the parties that the mediation period will be excluded from the five-years the Legislature has given the plaintiff to get the action to trial,<sup>5</sup> a partial stay to allow mediation does not make it impossible, impracticable, or futile to bring the case to trial. This is the case particularly where, as here, the parties voluntarily submit the case to mediation long before the five-year period expires. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in holding otherwise, and its judgment should be affirmed.

II.

### THE FACTS SHOW THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DISMISSING THIS CASE

In this case, the trial court plainly acted within the bounds of its discretion in dismissing this case, which had been pending for more than five years. The trial court had

<sup>&</sup>quot;An action is an ordinary proceeding in a court of justice by which one party prosecutes another for the declaration, enforcement, or protection of a right, the redress or prevention of a wrong, or the punishment of a public offense." (Civ. Code, § 22.) For the purposes of § 583.340, it includes any pleading that asserts a cause of action or claim for relief. (Code Civ. Proc., § 583.110(a).)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See, Code Civ. Proc., § 583.330.

before it the representative of the estate<sup>6</sup> of a savvy plaintiff<sup>7</sup> who had received nearly \$1,060,000.00 in financial benefits from the sale of property that, but for the events complained of in this case, would have been lost in foreclosure.<sup>8</sup> The trial court also had an ample record of dilatory conduct on the part of both plaintiff and her estate's representative. Besides that, the trial court also had before it a record of proven misrepresentation as to the reason for plaintiff and appellant's dilatory conduct, an effort that appellant continues in this Court. Specifically, appellant attempts to blame an extensive period of delay in obtaining bankruptcy counsel—time during which he could have brought this case to trial—on "financial considerations" and "Plaintiff's limited"

Notwithstanding appellant's continued use of the old caption of this case in his Opening Brief on the Merits (OBM), in January 2010, appellant Milton Howard Gaines was substituted into this action as plaintiff upon the death of his mother, plaintiff Fannie Marie Gaines. (See, Court of Appeal opinion in *Gaines v. Fidelity National Title Insurance Company* (Cal. Ct. App. 2013) 165 Cal.Rptr.3d 544 review granted and opinion superseded sub nom. Gaines v. Fidelity Nat. Title Ins. Co. (Cal. 2014) 170 Cal.Rptr.3d 251, hearing granted (Gaines); 3 AA 573-601 [The Appellant's Appendix will be referred to in this brief as AA preceded by the volume number and followed by the page, and where applicable, the line number(s) separated by a colon. Thus, the immediately preceding citation would be volume 3 of the Appellant's Appendix at pages 573-601.].)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> "Plaintiff" in this brief will refer to Fannie Marie Gaines, and "appellant" will refer to Milton Howard Gaines, plaintiff's successor as representative of her estate.

Plaintiff and her husband had no intention of selling the property (1 AA 10:18-21), and because they could not refinance it due to their limited income (1 AA 10:16-18), they would have likely lost the property in the foreclosure that was looming (1 AA 6:16-21) had it not been for the acts of defendants Tornberg, Johnson, and Ray Management they complain of in this case. While respondents do not wish to cast these defendants as angelic saviors, neither do they appear to be the victimizing sharks appellant makes them out to be. More on this will appear below.

OBM, at page 19, last paragraph.

financial means"<sup>10</sup> when the record demonstrates plaintiff received more than \$282,000.00 in cash from the initial sale of the property<sup>11</sup> in August 2006 and another \$375,000.00 from her settlement with Countrywide in August 2009,<sup>12</sup> and she still had more than \$191,000.00 in her checking account when she died unexpectedly of cancer on November 29, 2009.<sup>13</sup> Thus, plaintiff and appellant had access to more than adequate cash to retain a lawyer to get relief from the automatic stay, which ended up costing less than \$20,000.00 in legal fees. (2 AA 241:26-242:1.)

There is more. Appellant also makes repeated efforts to cast his parents as unsophisticated victims who could be easily duped. (See, e.g., OBM, page 5, first full paragraph; 1 AA 59:4-13.) That effort rings hollow, however, in light of the evidence in the record that plaintiff Fannie Marie Gaines<sup>14</sup> held a Master's degree and owned her own business as an antique dealer for 30 years. (3 AA 599:1-5; 3 AA 601:12, 17-19.) And, let

OBM, at page 25. These misrepresentations are a repeat of a false undercurrent that was presented in the trial court. (See, e.g., 1 AA 185:24-195:8; 2 AA 232:19-21.)

<sup>1</sup> AA 46:603; 1 AA 47:1305. See also, 1 AA 8:6-9. Delinquent property taxes owed by the Gaineses in the sum of \$4,212.65 were also paid through the escrow from the funds provided by Tornberg. (1 AA 47:1303.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> 4 AA 782, 784:19-26.

<sup>4</sup> AA 777-779. No apparent explanation has ever surfaced or is in the record as to what happened to the difference between the \$375,000.00 Countrywide paid for the settlement and the more than \$191,000.00 plaintiff had left at her death. Nor does the record reveal what happened to the \$280,000.00 plus the plaintiff received from the sale, other than that she paid \$30,730.03 to stop the foreclosure of a deed of trust she now tries to invalidate. (2 AA 242:11-18; 372-377.)

Appellant's father died before this action was filed. (1 AA 1:23-25.)

us not forget that during their lives, the Gaineses managed to purchase a duplex in Los Angeles and obtain more than half a million dollars in financing against it (1 AA 64:12-15), so it is a stretch to suggest plaintiff was an inexperienced simpleton as appellant tries to do. (1 AA 59:4-13; OBM 1; 5.)

In short, appellant was in no hurry to move this case to trial, since he was living in the property payment free, with even the water he used being paid by others. (1 AA 36.<sup>15</sup>) Thus, as respondents Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. (LBHI) and Aurora Loan Services LLC (Aurora) will demonstrate below, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in declining to apply the exceptions to the five-year rule and dismissing this case when appellant failed to get the case to trial within five years, even while he continued to enjoy free use of the property. And, as LBHI and Aurora will also demonstrate, the model that Justice Rubin in his dissenting opinion in the Court of Appeal suggests would eviscerate the abuse of discretion standard, a standard that this Court has well defined notwithstanding the efforts on the parts of some intermediate appellate courts either to redefine the standard or to ignore it altogether in order to substitute their own views of how a trial court should have decided a case.

Finally, as to the main issue that this Court indicated it wants to consider on this appeal, a voluntary partial stay while the parties mediate their dispute does not render it impossible, impractical or futile to bring the case to trial during the time the partial stay is

The paragraph of the lease referred to states: "UTILITIES AND SERVICES: Tenant will be responsible for all utilities and services required on the Premises." It has been amended in handwriting to state, "Landlord pays water!!" Defendant Ray Management Group, Inc. was the landlord. (1 AA 34.)

in effect. The Legislature has said as much. Since the entire purpose of litigation is to resolve disputes, it would be entirely inconsistent to omit from the five-year period the Legislature has given a plaintiff to get a case to trial the time during which the parties are attempting to resolve the dispute in the first place. This is particularly so where, as here, ample time remains between the mediation and the expiration of the five-year period for the plaintiff to get the case to trial. Given that virtually all cases have settlement discussions, either because the parties engage in them on their own or through their counsel or because the court orders that they occur, it makes no sense to omit the time those discussions are taking place from the time that the plaintiff has to get the case to trial unless the parties agree that the time should be omitted as the statute allows or other circumstances not present here apply. There was no abuse of discretion in this case, and the decision of the trial court<sup>16</sup> should be affirmed.

The Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's ruling as to Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. only. (*Gaines*, supra, 165 Cal.Rptr.3d 544, 561, 564.) While LBHI wishes it were different, it appears that the Court of Appeal's ruling on that issue is correct under the authorities cited. LBHI appears in this brief, however, along with respondent Aurora, which did prevail in the Court of Appeal, because of the important issues this case raises and so that it cannot be said that it has entirely accepted the Court of Appeal's ruling, in case this Court sees fit to reinstate the trial court ruling in its entirety. In spite of that, LBHI will accept this Court's decision if the determination of the Court of Appeal as to it is upheld. As will appear, Aurora obviously contends the Court of Appeal made the correct decision as to it, and as consistent with his position in the Court of Appeal, appellant does not appear to raise any issues here unique to Aurora in his brief.

### THE PROCEEDINGS BELOW SHOW THAT THE APPELLANT UNREASONABLY DELAYED IN MOVING THIS CASE ALONG

For all of appellant's protestations regarding his purported diligence in moving this case to trial, the simple fact is he did very little after stepping into the case. And, the record shows that plaintiff did scant little before her death other than to meet the challenges of defendants to the pleadings. For example, although the case was filed on November 13, 2006, it was not fully at-issue with respect to the originally named parties—including those named in the Fourth Amended Complaint—until January 2009. By August of 2009, however, the plaintiff was ready for trial. (2 AA 238:17-20.) Certainly, the partial stay for the mediation did not prevent the plaintiff from moving the case to trial up to that time, which was less than three years after the case was filed, and more importantly, was *after* the partial stay for mediation at issue here.

Shortly before trial was set to begin, the plaintiff settled with Countrywide. (2 AA 238:21-23.) It was nearly three months before, in May 2009, that plaintiff's counsel had been informed of LBHI's interest in the loan and the property and that Aurora was no longer able to exercise any rights in the property due to the bankruptcy of LBHI, however. (AAA 875:21-27.18) At the time, plaintiff, and later appellant, still had more

Numerous demurrers had been filed, and the three amended versions of the original complaint were filed before Aurora was named in the Fourth Amended Complaint.

AAA refers to the Appellant's Augmented Appendix in Lieu of Clerk's Transcript. Since there is only one volume, no volume number will be referenced.

than two years and three months to bring the case to trial, a period which was extended 60 days due to plaintiff's death in order that appellant could be substituted into the action. (4 AA 749-752, especially 751:3-8.) Yet, over the next 29 months, a period of almost 2 ½ years, neither plaintiff nor appellant was diligent about bringing the case to trial. What is more, the excuses given ring hollow.

First, appellant's counsel tries to blame his delay on Aurora's change in position, claiming it caused confusion. (See, e.g., OBM, page 17, §§ G-H.) A closer look at the record, however, shows the fallacy in this argument. For instance, in its Motion for Leave to File Amended Answer, Aurora fully explained why it needed to amend the answer, who had the interest in the loan in question, and what Aurora's and LBHI's respective roles were with respect to the loan. (See AAA 869-886; see especially AAA 871-874.)

There was therefore no basis for counsel to be confused, and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in impliedly determining otherwise. Although the trial court did not make a specific finding that the time of counsel's claimed confusion should be omitted from the five-year period, its refusal to exclude all but the time between which appellant actually hired counsel to obtain relief from the LBHI bankruptcy stay and the time the stay order was actually granted lead to the inference that it did not accept this excuse. In *Gaines*, the Court of Appeal accepted the trial court's position. (165 Cal.Rptr.3d at 558-559.) This

There is nothing in the record to suggest that plaintiff's death resulted from an extended period of illness that rendered her in capable of participating in the case. Indeed, the record reflects that just three months before her counsel was ready for trial. (2 AA 238:17-20.)

rationale is consistent with the rule that a judgment of the trial court is presumed correct, and all intendments and presumptions are indulged to support it on matters as to which the record is silent. (*Denham v. Superior Court* (1970) 2 Cal.3d 557, 564.)

Counsel's alleged confusion could have been easily cleared up through discovery in any event, but the record does not reflect that he did any. The Court of Appeal found this lack of effort compelling. (Gaines, 22 Cal.App.4th at 40-41, 165 Cal.Rptr.3d at 558-559.) In any event, the record shows that plaintiff's counsel was informed about LBHI's interest in the property by May 22, 2009, nearly three months before plaintiff settled with Countrywide and more than two years before he hired counsel in New York to seek relief from the automatic stay in LBHI's bankruptcy, which occurred on June 22, 2011. (Cf., AAA 875:21-27 and 1 AA 240:19-23.) With knowledge of LBHI's interest in the property and the loan, plaintiff's counsel twice advanced the position in the trial court that the case should be set for trial without first obtaining relief from the automatic stay, first when he prepared for trial on August 29, 2009,<sup>20</sup> and more than a year later at a status conference on November 18, 2010. (See, e.g., 1 AA 170:23-26.<sup>21</sup>) Counsel took the position that relief from stay was not required because LBHI was not a party to the case. (1 AA 171:8-11.) If that was the case, however, his failure to move the case forward is all

<sup>&</sup>quot;Judge Heeseman set this action for trial on August 29, 2009. On or about August 13, 2009, all of the named parties [were] set to go to trial on August 29, 2009." (2 AA 238:17-18.)

<sup>&</sup>quot;THE COURT: Okay. Have a seat. "So what's our situation?

<sup>&</sup>quot;MR. WYATT: I think we're ready to set it for trial, your Honor." (Transcript of November 18, 2010 status conference hearing.)

the more baffling.<sup>22</sup>

The fact that the initial answer was verified by Aurora's counsel—on information and belief<sup>23</sup>—did not elevate the pleading to a loftier position or make the change more confusing. Instead of propounding discovery, all we are told is that plaintiff's counsel made an informal request for "some proof that Lehman held the interest..." which he claimed not to have received until December 10, 2010. (OBM, page 17, § H-19, § K.) By then, plaintiff's counsel had received more than adequate information to indicate that LBHI held the loan, however. Although he had initially requested a letter setting out the information as to the ownership of interest of LBHI in the loan (AAA 876:3-4), he later requested and received a declaration from an LBHI employee (AAA 876:3-11), and he had a new verified answer disclaiming any interest in Aurora that had been filed with leave of the court after receiving evidence of why the original answer had to be amended. (AAA 878-886; AAA 869-877.) This information was at least as much evidence as he had of the interest initially claimed by Aurora in the original answer; in fact, it was more. This much is clear, however; by amending its answer to the Fourth Amended Complaint,

There was certainly nothing that *required* appellant to name LBHI as a party to the case. In fact, by making a substantial payment without objection on the loan, as she did (2 AA 372-377), plaintiff may have indicated her acceptance of and acquiescence to the loan (see, e.g., *Reusche v. California Pacific Title Ins. Co.* (1965) 231 Cal.App.2d 731), or by omitting LBHI from the suit, she may merely have been indicating an intention to pursue her claims against LBHI in its bankruptcy. (Cf., *Deutsche Bank Nat. Trust Co. v. McGurk* (2012) 206 Cal.App.4th 201.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> 2 AA 293-301, especially 299. Where, as here, and attorney verifies a pleading on information and belief, the pleading is not considered to be an affidavit or declaration establishing the facts therein alleged. (Code Civ. Proc., § 446.)

Aurora informed appellant and his counsel that it disclaimed any interest in the property or the loan held by LBHI and clearly alleged the interest of LBHI. (AAA 880:8-10; 881:14-16.) The motion for leave to file the amended answer was filed in November 2009 (AAA 869-886), six months after counsel was first informed that LBHI held the loan. (AAA 875:21-27.)

Second, the appellant had more than adequate time to plan for obtaining relief from the automatic stay to proceed against LBHI. The other claimed reason for his delay—that "financial considerations" and "plaintiff's limited financial means" prevented the hiring of bankruptcy counsel (OBM, page 19, § L., ¶2; OBM, page 25, last sentence before heading no. 3)—has already been shown to be untrue because plaintiff died with more than \$191,000.00 in cash on hand that was available to the estate. (4 AA 777-779.) Given that this action is being prosecuted to benefit the estate, no reason appears why that money should not have been available for its use. But, we do know that appellant continued to enjoy the property free of charge while there was a delay. In short, he was in no hurry to move the case along. With this background in mind, it is apparent that the trial court was correct to dismiss this case after the appellant took too long to bring it to trial.

#### IV.

### THE PARTIAL STAY DID NOT STOP THE LITIGATION SO AS TO HAMPER PLAINTIFF'S OR APPELLANT'S EFFORTS TO GET THIS CASE TO TRIAL

This Court indicated it wanted to consider the impact of the partial stay on the ability of the plaintiff to get the case to trial. It is worthwhile to consider the exact nature

of what is claimed to have been a stay in the trial court. To do so, we must begin with the genesis of that stay, the letter from Scott Drosdick, Aurora's General Counsel.

#### A. The Drosdick Letter Did Not Call for a Stay of Litigation of the Action.

The partial stay that eventually evolved between the appearing parties was different from the terms proposed in the letter from Drosdick,<sup>24</sup> which was required simply to allow full discussion of the issues without the pressure of the Trial Delay Reduction Act rules forcing the parties to focus on the litigation rather than the mediation.<sup>25</sup> It is noteworthy that as a result of the agreement between plaintiff and

<sup>24</sup> (2 AA 270-271.) Drosdick's letter is curious in light of what appellant suggests it states. It does NOT call for a stay of the action or even of all activity as to Aurora. Instead, it purports to be an agreement only between plaintiff and Aurora. (2 AA 271 ["In light of the foregoing, it is agreed by and between Gaines and Aurora Loan..."].) In addition, while Drosdick uses the term "stay" in the letter, the way he defines the term makes it clear that, "(1) Aurora Loan shall not be required to enter an appearance, and/or answer, move or otherwise respond to, Gaines' (sic) Fourth Amended Complaint for 120 days from the date of this letter ("Stay"); (2) Gaines shall not file a request for default judgment on the Fourth Amended complaint against Aurora Loan during the [120 day period]; (3)-(6) [the tolling of various activities pertaining to the pending foreclosure sale are set out]; (7) Gaines' (sic) counsel will take the necessary steps to petition the Los Angeles Superior Court and request that the Court formally approve the [letter's terms]; and (8) Under Evid. Code, §§ 1152, 1154, Gaines' (sic) counsel agrees to coordinate with all party defendants an in person, non-binding mediation to occur before the expiration of the Stay to confidentially discuss if a global resolution can be reached between all parties to the Fourth Amended Complaint." (Id.)

On March 18, 2008, when the Drosdick letter was written, this case was governed by The Trial Delay Reduction Act Rules of the Los Angeles Superior Court. The stated goal of those rules was to dispose of 100% of cases within two years of filing. (Rule 7.0(d), Local Rules of the Los Angeles Superior Court, (repealed 2013), available at http://www.lacba.org/Files/Main%20Folder/Documents/Judicial\_Not\_Restricted/files/LA SC%20Local%20Rules\_\_January%201,%202008\_\_AOC.pdf (as of June 24, 2014).) Under those rules, granting a 120 day extension of time to respond to a pleading without court approval would not have been looked kindly upon, so the Drosdick letter was to deal with this issue. Plaintiff realized as much and invoked the so-called "Fast Track"

Aurora in Drosdick's letter, although Aurora was not *required* to respond to the Fourth Amended Complaint within the 120-day period, there was nothing about the agreement that prevented it from doing so. And, under the letter agreement, plaintiff and Aurora were at liberty to conduct discovery—that is until *plaintiff* stipulated with the appearing parties not to engage in further discovery beyond what was already pending.

The Drosdick letter became the foundation for the partial stay that the parties requested that the trial court enter, and the plaintiff relied on that letter as Exhibit 1 to her ex parte application requesting the partial stay. (2 AA 250-276, especially 254:5-17, 259:11-25, 264-265.) Accordingly, the order proposed by the plaintiff pursuant to her ex parte application, which the trial court adopted virtually unchanged, did not completely halt the prosecution of the action, but instead, it required all pending discovery to be answered, ordered that the parties participate in good faith in a mediation within 90 days, and set the case for a post-mediation and trial setting conference before the partial stay expired. (2 AA 278-279.) In Bruns, this Court concluded that "prosecution" of an action includes, "the following up or carrying on of an action or suit already commenced until the remedy be attained.... In its broadest sense the term would embrace all proceedings... for the protection or enforcement of a right or the punishment of a wrong, whether of a public or private character." (Bruns, supra, 51 Cal.4th 717, 725, citing 32 Cyclopedia of Law & Procedure (1909) p. 727, Ray Wong v. Earle C. Anthony, Inc. (1926) 199 Cal. 15, 18, and Melancon v. Superior Court (1954) 42 Cal.2d 698, 707-708[taking of discovery

Rules" at least four times in her ex parte application as a reason for the partial stay. (See, 2 AA 254: 12-17; 257:25-27; 259:15-25; and 260:19-24.)

is a step in the prosecution of an action].) Other cases have concluded that the five-year period is to allow for service of process, pleadings, discovery, court conferences, and like proceedings. (See, e.g., Sierra Nevada Memorial-Miners Hospital, Inc. v. Superior Court (1990) 217 Cal.App.3d 464, 472; Continental Pacific Lines v. Superior Court (1956) 142 Cal.App.2d 744, 750.) Stipulations to extend the time for performing those tasks do not, by themselves, extend the five year statutory period to bring the case to trial unless it appears that the parties so intended (J. C. Penney Co. v. Superior Court (1959) 52 Cal.2d 666, 670-671["Despite the addition of another step in the necessary proceedings leading to the trial, the case still must be 'brought to trial within five years after the plaintiff has filed his action. ..."]), particularly when, as in this case, the extensions of time are agreed to and expire within the five year period. (Larkin v. Superior Court (1916) 171 Cal. 719, 722-723.)

Given the variety of activity permitted—and in fact required—by the partial stay in this case, all of which was aimed at "carrying on of an action or suit already commenced until the remedy be attained" (*Bruns*, supra, 51 Cal.4th 717, 725), and given that mediation is simply another step in that process which has as its aim to move the parties to an agreement in resolution of a dispute (Evid. Code, § 1115(a); Code Civ. Proc., § 1775.1(a), Cal. Rules of Court, rule 3.852(1).), its use in this case was part of the "prosecution" of the action. The partial stay did not change that, and the five-year period was not tolled by the partial stay.

B. The Legislature Views Mediation As Part of the Prosecution of the Action.

The Legislature has recognized that mediation is or should be part of the judicial

process not only for the benefit of the parties but also to help unburden the courts. (Code Civ. Proc., § 1775.) In 1993, the Legislature enacted statutes to govern and encourage the mediation of cases pending in the courts of this State in general and in the Los Angeles Superior Court in particular. (Code Civ. Proc., §§ 1775-1775.15.) Although those statutes, in recognition of the essentially voluntary nature of mediation, <sup>26</sup> preclude the court from ordering cases to mediation where the amount in controversy exceeds \$50,000, <sup>27</sup> and therefore are not directly applicable to this case, they are nevertheless instructive as to the overall attitude of the Legislature with regard to mediation and its effect on the five-year rule and its exceptions. Initially, the statutes show that the Legislature views mediation as a useful step in the process of prosecuting an action. (Code Civ. Proc., §§ 1775, 1775.2.)

#### C. Early Mediation Does Not Toll the Five-Year Statute.

It has long been the law that time spent in settlement negotiations does not delay the running of the five-year period to bring a case to trial. (City of Los Angeles v. Superior Court (1921) 185 Cal. 405, 413-414; Elmhurst Packers v. Superior Court

See Jeld-Wen, Inc. v. Superior Court (2007) 146 Cal. App. 4th 536 and cases therein cited [In light of the voluntary nature of mediation, a court cannot order a party to participate in mediation with a paid mediator.]. The Los Angeles Superior Court Mediation Program endorsed by Code Civ. Proc., § 1775 et seq., provides mediators who donate three hours of their time pro bono. (http://www.lasuperiorcourt.org/adr/forms/laadr005.pdf, as of June 24, 2014.)

See, Code Civ. Proc., § 1775.5. This section is consistent with the statute pertaining to judicial arbitration, Code Civ. Proc., § 1141.11, which makes sense given that the mediation statutes generally are similar to the judicial arbitration statutes. (Gonzalez v. County of Los Angeles (2004) 122 Cal.App.4th 1124, 1130.)

(1941) 46 Cal.App.2d 648, 650-651.) Likewise, the Legislature does not view early mediation as an event that tolls the running of the five-year statute under Code Civ. Proc., § 583.310. Particularly telling for our purposes is what the Legislature has enacted with regard to the effect of mediation on the running of the five-year statute. The Legislature's intent in that regard is expressed in Code Civ. Proc., § 1775.7, which states:

- (a) Submission of an action to mediation pursuant to this title shall not suspend the running of the time periods specified in Chapter 1.5 (commencing with Section 583.110) of Title 8 of Part 2, except as provided in this section.
- (b) If an action is or remains submitted to mediation pursuant to this title more than four years and six months after the plaintiff has filed the action, then the time beginning on the date four years and six months after the plaintiff has filed the action and ending on the date on which a statement of nonagreement is filed pursuant to Section 1775.9 shall not be included in computing the five-year period specified in § 583.310.

It is crucial not to overlook the significance of this section. Again, LBHI and Aurora recognize that it appears that Title 11.6 of the Code of Civil Procedure applies only to cases that are amenable to judicial arbitration because they fall within its jurisdictional threshold (see, e.g., Code Civ. Proc., § 1775.3, referring to Code Civ. Proc., § 1141.11), and this is not such a case. That this case does not fall within the code's jurisdictional limits is of no moment, however, for a number of reasons.

Through § 1775.7, the Legislature has instructed that with regard to a case ordered

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